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Our beginning Our beginning 
On 28 April 1996 at the historical Port Arthur site in Tasmania, 35 people were tragically killed.

Alannah and Madeline Mikac, aged six and three, along with their mother, died that day. 

Because of this terrible act of violence, Alannah and Madeline’s father, Walter Mikac AM, and a small group of 
volunteers, worked to set up the Foundation with the belief that all children should have a safe and happy childhood 
without being subjected to any form of violence. 

It was launched on 30 April 1997 by the Prime Minister of Australia, the Hon. John Howard OM AC.

Where we are todayWhere we are today
The Alannah & Madeline Foundation was founded on a simple, but powerful notion: the unconditional truth that our 
children need and deserve a childhood free from violence.

More than 20 years ago, we first took a stand in the face of unspeakable tragedy and made a promise to do everything 
within our power to protect children from harm. To ensure children touched by violence can heal from it. To serve as a 
beacon of hope for a better, safer world.

Our purpose took hold, and our impact grew. And now, recognising the dangers children face today are increasingly 
complex, we continue to adapt and evolve. We are building a meaningful alliance of like-minded individuals to identify, 
prevent and respond to the modern challenges children face.

We are transforming how society thinks about and responds to barriers to every child’s basic right to live free from fear.

We will never stop growing our vision. 
We will always work to prevent harm, and where we can’t prevent, to heal. 
We exist to keep children safe today, and into the future. 

This is our promise.

The Alannah & Madeline Foundation: safeguarding our children’s future together.

Where we are today

Our beginning
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Chair and CEO message
The Alannah & Madeline Foundation 
experienced a year of significant 
growth in 2019 with the assistance 
of our partners and supporters.

Entering year four of our Strategic 
Plan 2017-2021, we continue to be 
innovative and invest in program 
development.  We saw growth in a 
number of our existing programs 
and the launch of some new 
initiatives. 

A significant new focus was the 
launch of our Early Childhood 
Trauma Consultancy Service 
(TraCS), to help early years staff 
work with children aged 3-5 years 
affected by trauma.  We help staff to 
understand challenging behaviours 
and how best to respond to ensure 
a child can succeed. You can read 
more about TraCS – and our other 
program extensions – in this Annual 
Report.

We are so proud of the growth in 
Dolly’s Dream. Now in its second 
year, Dolly’s Dream is in a good 
position to continue delivering 
resilience, parent support and 
anti-bullying programs and help 
ensure families in remote Australian 
communities receive similar 
opportunities to their metropolitan 
counterparts.

Our work has also continued with 
Safe Sistas, a series of hands-on 
workshops co-funded by Facebook 
that address young Indigenous 
women’s general online safety 
and responds to issues of image-
based abuse. We are pleased to 
be developing a similar project for 
young men in 2020.

Media literacy and safety continues 
to be a key focus of the Foundation. 
Supported by Google.org, we 
have worked with leading experts 
to develop Media Literacy Lab, an 
education resource that equips 
students with the skills they need 
to effectively navigate the online 
environment and thrive in their 
relationship with media, both on 
and offline.

In conjunction with our major 
sporting partners, Richmond 
Football Club and Cricket Australia, 
we delivered community based 
workshops to promote online safety 
and reduce cyber bullying.

Our eSmart Digital Licence has 
extended to also include a Junior 
Primary version, helping keep 
children safe online as they are 
exposed to the internet at an 
increasingly younger age.

In 2019 we also extended our 
footprint around the country, 
opening our first office in Sydney. 
We’re pleased to now be able to 
better connect with our many long-
time supporters of the Foundation 
in New South Wales and look 
forward to working with our Sydney 
partners and friends in 2020.

We continued the support for our 
national gun laws that help keep 
our children and families safe. 

The year ended by reaching 
the bittersweet milestone of 
sending out our 100,000th Buddy 
Bag to children in emergency 
accommodation.

In closing, our sincere thanks go 
to you as a supporter, the Board, 
staff and volunteers of the Alannah 
& Madeline Foundation for the 
collective dedication to our work.

Greg Sutherland 
Chair

Lesley Podesta 
Chief Executive Officer

This Annual Report covers the 
calendar year of 2019. Our 
response to COVID-19 will be 
reported in the 2020 issue.
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Walter Mikac’s message 
It’s always a busy year at the Alannah & Madeline Foundation, and this one 
has been no exception. Led by CEO Lesley Podesta, what the team achieves 
is just incredible.

You may have noticed we’ve updated the look of the Alannah & Madeline 
Foundation. I love it. 

The logo – part of a family portrait drawn by Alannah – is so special. The 
simplicity of a six-year-old girl caring for her younger sister is what the 
Foundation is dedicated to – helping children live without fear, bullying 
or violence. Everyone can relate to this, making our message and aim so 
powerful.

We will never forget Alannah and Madeline, and as you can see, the new 
logo of the Foundation features their faces looking into the future. It gives 
me hope and pride for what we have achieved and what comes next.

It reflects the evolving work of the Foundation.

We will always work with children affected by violence and help them heal, 
but we also work to educate children and young people, to prevent harm 
from happening – and this happens in the home, in schools, workplaces 
and communities, in both the online and offline worlds.

We work with the best minds to identify, prevent and respond to the modern 
challenges that children face. This is evident with programs like eSmart and 
the new Media Literacy Lab.

We have proudly reached more than 2.45 million children since the 
Foundation started 23 years ago in 1997.

Thank you again for your support. I hope you’ll continue the journey with us.

Walter Mikac AM 
Founding Patron
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Our International  
Patron 
It makes me proud and thankful to see 
how the Alannah & Madeline Foundation 
approaches and responds to the constantly 
changing technological and digital 
landscape – and what this approach means 
for our children. 

The Foundation’s world-leading programs 
have a significant impact, not only in the 
lives of children, but also for their parents 
and carers – both in the offline and online 
worlds.

Her Royal Highness Crown Princess  
Mary of Denmark

Our National 
Patron 
What started in 1997 with a small group of 
volunteers and the courageous idea to turn 
tragedy into good, has grown into a service 
that is doing exactly that. 

Whether the Alannah & Madeline Foundation 
is advocating for children’s safety and 
wellbeing, teaching respectful values and 
behaviours in schools, caring for kids who 
have suffered or witnessed violence, or 
giving essential items to children in crisis—
over your 23 years, you have ensured the 
needs of the young are never forgotten. 

I thank everyone at the Foundation—
especially Alannah and Madeline’s father, 
Walter Mikac AM, and Gaye and John Fidler—
for your boundless wisdom and generosity. 
Your efforts are deeply humbling, and remind 
us all every day of the importance of our 
children—protecting them, encouraging 
them and celebrating them. 

I would also like to thank the Foundation 
for your perseverance and understanding 
during these difficult few months. I am very 
conscious of the impact the coronavirus—
and the various measures my Government 
has put in place to limit it—has had on the 
lives of all Australians, particularly the young. 

It is an honour to serve as National Patron 
of the Alannah & Madeline Foundation, and 
to support your commitment to a safe and 
happy childhood for all Australians. 

The work of the Alannah & Madeline 
Foundation is as vital today as ever before. 

The Hon. Scott Morrison MP 
Prime Minister of Australia
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Kate and Tick Everett’s message
Our 2019 kicked off in spectacular fashion, receiving the honour of 
Australia’s Local Hero in the Northern Territory. It was unexpected and 
quite overwhelming. 

From there we began a whirlwind of an adventure, starting with a 
special Australia Day event on Sydney Harbour and then attending many 
citizenship ceremonies. 

We’ve continued working with state governments about the ever-
growing issue of bullying.

We’ve been guest speakers and have attended many events including the 
School of the Air Conference in Mt Isa, a National Australia Day Council 
function in Sydney, an Oz Forum in Katherine and the National Australian 
of the Year Conference. And it seems like we’ve done countless radio, 
newspaper and magazine interviews, plus TV appearances!

Alongside all of this, we’ve worked closely with the Alannah & Madeline 
Foundation to focus on program delivery around the country.

The Parent Hub is a new resource we launched that we wish we had a 
few years ago. It’s a great educational site for parents looking to learn 
more about bullying and cyber bullying. 

On Friday 10 May, the country was awash with blue when communities 
stood together against bullying for the first Do it for Dolly Day.

In 2019 we also welcomed an anti-bullying video by teens for teens, 
asking young viewers, “Are your words doing damage?” The video went 
viral, with more than 1.3 million views.

You can learn more about these initiatives in this Annual Report.

We supported UNICEF Australia, together with the New South Wales 
Government and the Primary Health Network, to host the first Youth 
Summit for young people living with drought, exploring ways decision-
makers can support young people to build resilience and become better 
prepared to lower the negative impacts of ongoing and future drought.

At the end of the year, we launched the DigiPledge, a tool to help 
parents, carers and families be safer online and to champion kindness. 

To our amazing and passionate Dolly’s Dream community: thank you.  
Thank you for your support, encouragement and generosity of spirit. 

Thank you for speaking, even if your voice shakes. 

  

Kate and Tick Everett 
Parents of Dolly Everett
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Board of the Alannah & Madeline 
Foundation
We are proud to have such an enthusiastic Board of Directors dedicated to our cause.

Greg Sutherland, Chair, Alannah & Madeline Foundation, Co-founder and Director, 
Culturesmith and Group Manager, Strategy and Marketing, Latitude Financial Services

Peter Blunden, Victorian Managing Director – Editorial, News Corp

Richard Broug, General Manager – Global Retail Business, Paspaley Group

Eamonn Fitzpatrick, Director, Hawker Britton

Terry Hearity OAM, former National Sponsorship Manager, Australia Post

Launa Inman, Director, Super Retail Group

Hilary Johnston-Croke, Non-Executive Director, Expert Advisor and former Principal, 
Kincoppal-Rose Bay School, Sydney

Rebecca Kardos, Chief Executive Officer and Director, Aurora Energy and Director, 
NILS (No Interest Loans Scheme) Network of Tasmania

Lesley Podesta, Chief Executive Officer, Alannah & Madeline Foundation

Rob Speedie, Senior Advisor, TPG Capital

Lyn Walker, Principal Consultant, Lyn Walker & Associates

Russell Yardley, Chairman, Powerhouse Ventures Limited and Director, Australian 
Research Data Commons Limited

Advisory Board of Dolly’s Dream
Dolly’s Dream consults a panel of experts to advise on programs and services to invest in.

Kate and Tick Everett, Founders of Dolly’s Dream

Troy Setter, Chief Executive Officer, Consolidated Pastoral Company

Bernadette Burke, Human Resources, Consolidated Pastoral Company

Richard Broug, General Manager – Global Retail Business, Paspaley Group

Lesley Podesta, Chief Executive Officer, Alannah & Madeline Foundation

Dr Charlotte Keating, Resident Psychologist, ABC Radio and National Centre Against Bullying (NCAB) member

The Dolly’s Dream Advisory Board reports to the Board of the Alannah & Madeline Foundation.



Helping children recover

350+ children

Aiding kids in crisis
Delivered

100,600+
Buddy Bags

 

 

 

67,650+  attendees

Educating communities

1,790+ schools
Reducing bullying in schools

Better Buddies creates friendly and caring 
primary school communities where 

bullying is reduced by helping to give 
children the important skills to engage in 

positive and respectful relationships.

2,430+ schools
1,200+ libraries

Building safer communities

Teaching kids to
be smart, safe and
responsible online 

270,150+
children have registered

 

Providing comfort for children

 
 

 

1,740+ children

Reached

2,450,000+
children

The Cubby House is a customised 
safe space at the Broadmeadows 

and Melbourne Children’s Courts to 
help reduce anxiety for at-risk children 

in the care of Department of Health 
and Human Services.     

Buddy Bags are backpacks of 
basic, essential items that are 
given to children on arrival in 
emergency accommodation.

Children Ahead provides 
intensive, therapeutic 
support for children aged up 
to 18 that have been a ected 
by violence and trauma.    

Connect delivers a range of workshops related 
to online safety, bullying and wellbeing for 
students, teachers and parents using the 

expertise from our world-leading programs.    

eSmart helps to build supportive and 
connected social environments on and oine 

that reduces bullying and cyber bullying.

Australia’s #1 selling 
online safety education 

program, the eSmart 
Digital Licence teaches 

school age children how 
to play, learn and 

socialise safely in the 
digital world.         
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The impact of your supportThe impact of your supportThe impact of your support
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Our reachOur reach

21,78321,783

100,100, 6666

317,317, 66

369,1369,1 00

1,1, 21,62521,625

88 ,987,987

11 ,567,567

123,33123,33

Our reach
Our programs are in one third of all Australian schools, and more than 80 per cent of public libraries. 

We have supported more than 100,000 children in emergency accommodation with a Buddy Bag and will send a further 
10,000 Buddy Bags next year. 

More than 270,000 students are registered for their eSmart Digital Licence. 

We have proudly reached  more then 2.45 million  across the country since the Foundation was started in 1997.

Number of children by state
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A Foundation you can trustA Foundation you can trustA Foundation you can trust
The Alannah & Madeline Foundation is audited annually by Ernst & Young.

Our revenue comes from a number of sources – across corporate, trusts and foundations, government, community 
and through events. 

The full Financial Report 2019 is included as Appendix 1 of this Annual Report. It is also available at amf.org.au.     

Programs

Marketing/fundraising

Accountability/administration 

Events 

Corporate fundraising 

Direct marketing

Trusts and foundations

Grants 

Dolly’s Dream

Digital Licence/eSmart/ 
Connect/other

General donations/regular giving/
major donors

Other income

Non-monetary income

75%

18%

40%

2%

12%

14%

4%

10%

12%

2%

7%

3%

1%

Where your dollar goes

Where our money comes from
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11 
Caring for those affected by violence

PRIORITIES

• Further develop, implement and 
promote programs and response 
services to support children 
affected by trauma and violence.

STRATEGIES 

• Establish the Alannah & Madeline 
Foundation’s model of care 
(Children Ahead) as the gold 
standard in therapeutic support 
for traumatised children.

• Extend our national reach and 
impact of Care programs, in 
partnership with others.

• Undertake effective advocacy on 
prevention of violence against 
children. 

PROGRESS 

• Continued refining and improving 
the Children Ahead delivery model 
to reach more children and assist 
them to recover from trauma and 
violence.

• Implemented TraCS, a new 
consultancy model for early 
years educators across Victoria to 
support child victims of violence.

• Worked with peak bodies and 
local community partners across 
Victoria to better support child 
victims of crime and violence.

• Delivered a further 10,000 Buddy 
Bags to children in emergency 
accommodation across Australia, 
bringing the total to more than 
100,000.

• Continued supporting thousands 
of young people through our 
Cubby Houses at Broadmeadows 
and Melbourne Children’s Courts.

• Prepared submissions on 
important issues such as bullying, 
exposure to violence and 
pornography, online safety, gun 
safety and curriculum changes 
to advocate for the interests 
of children to state and federal 
governments. 

• Worked with Phoenix Australia, 
University of Melbourne and PwC 
to evaluate the impact of Children 
Ahead. 

Progression of our Strategic Plan 
2017-2021 – a snapshot by pillar 
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22 
Building an eSmart population and  
reducing online harm to children

PRIORITIES

• Develop engaged, vigilant and 
critical thinking children equipped 
with eSmart know-how and 
behaviours to be smart, safe and 
responsible online.

• Improve children’s wellbeing 
in what is a rapidly changing 
landscape that already includes 
The Internet of Things, 
Augmented Reality, Virtual Reality 
and potentially in the near future, 
Artificial Intelligence.

STRATEGIES 

• Take the Digital Licence global 
as a world-class product that 
predicts and stays ahead of cyber 
safety and wellbeing trends.

• Build digital literacy skills across 
the Australian school curriculum.

• Extend and expand the eSmart 
culture change program to 
all parts of our community, 
particularly reaching families and 
very young children before they 
start school.

• Work with partners to identify 
and pilot new programs to 
support and deliver digital 
innovation to keep children 
engaged and safe online.

PROGRESS 

• Released the Junior Primary 
version of the Digital Licence.

• Updated and strengthened our 
Primary and Secondary versions 
of the Digital Licence.

• Delivered Connect workshops  
to students, teachers, parents 
and community members – 
now with a total of 1,000+ 
delivered and 67,000+ people  
in total attending.

• Intensive work on Media Literacy 
Lab in readiness to rollout to 
schools in 2020.

• Continued working with 
Behavioural Insights to 
develop an intervention that 
helps teenagers improve their 
interactions online, leading to 
ethical/moral development.

• Continued working with 
Queensland Department of 
Education to rollout eSmart 
Schools, Connect and the Digital 
Licence to regional and remote 
Queensland schools through 
Dolly’s Dream.

• Continued progressing our 
Victorian eSmart Schools to 
eSmart Membership.

• Continued to strengthen 
eSmart Schools in Victoria due 
to Department of Education 
funding.

• Started year three of a four year 
rollout of eSmart Schools in 
Tasmania.

• Partnered with Northern 
Territory Government to deliver 
eSmart through Dolly’s Dream.

• Continued supporting 80 
per cent of public libraries to 
implement eSmart Libraries.

• Delivered Better Buddies to 
1,800+ primary schools.

• Highlighted the issue of bullying 
with Light the Darkness at 
Richmond Football Club’s Match 
Day.

• Ran successful community 
awareness campaigns on 
bullying and respect such as 
Pledge not to Sledge with 
Cricket Australia and Beanies not 
Meanies with KOGO.

• Supported thousands who 
participated in the first Do it for 
Dolly Day by wearing blue and 
spreading kindness.

• Continued working with 
Supré Foundation to develop 
workshops and distribution of 
the: ‘Image based bullying. So 
not Ok.’ Booklet across Supré’s 
retail network.

• Worked with Aurora Energy in 
Tasmania to supply the Digital 
Licence to Tasmanian schools.

• Started the design of Playing 
IT Safe in partnership with 
the Australian Federal Police 
and the Office of the eSafety 
Commissioner. 
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33 
Influencing 
society to keep  
children safe

PRIORITIES 

• Shift community and cultural 
attitudes and behaviours to be 
child focused, with zero tolerance 
of bullying and violence.

STRATEGIES 

• Lead public campaigns on issues 
that are core to our purpose.

• Work in collaboration with 
others to change policies, legal 
frameworks and practices to 
eliminate violence against 
children.

PROGRESS 

• Presented at the World Bullying 
Prevention Conference on 
the partnership with Supré 
Foundation and our Share This 
campaign. 

• Both the Foundation and the 
National Centre Against Bullying 
(NCAB) contributed to the New 
South Wales Government review 
into mobile phone use in schools.

• Submitted a report to members 
of the COAG Education Council, 
who were charged by the COAG 
First Ministers to review and 
provide recommendations on 
solutions for reducing bullying.

• Worked closely with the Public 
Health Association of Australia 
and Law Council of Australia to 
maintain our gun safety laws.

• Continued advocating for firearm 
safety nationally through our 
involvement with the Australian 
Gun Safety Alliance and our 
work with state and federal 
governments.

• Worked with the Tasmania 
Government’s Select Committee 
on Firearms Legislation and 
Policy to strongly supported the 
National Firearms Agreement.

44 
Learning through 
evidence and 
embracing 
innovation  
and change

PRIORITIES 

• Lead advances in community 
understanding of violence 
and bullying in a digital age. 
Translate research to develop and 
deliver innovative child-centred 
solutions.

STRATEGIES 

• Undertake future scanning, 
adopting a bold and experimental 
approach to innovation.

• Bring together and promote 
smarter thinking to reduce 
violence and bullying in our 
communities.

• Collaborate with entrepreneurs, 
researchers, businesses and child 
development practitioners to find, 
test, measure and deliver new 
approaches.

PROGRESS 

• Continued working with NCAB, 
whose academics, experts and 
practitioners gather biannually 
to share best practice and new 
approaches to reducing bullying.

• Worked with Auguste The Label 
to raise awareness of NCAB.

• Continued working with young 
Indigenous women and schools 
in remote communities to build 
digital safety through Safe Sistas 
workshops in conjunction with 
Stars Foundation in the Northern 
Territory.

• Provided online safety workshops 
to participants at the Garma 
Festival in north east Arnhem 
Land.

55 
Investing in a 
bright future

PRIORITIES 

• To have an ethical, efficient and 
sustainable financing model for 
growth to enable us to help more 
children.

STRATEGIES 

• Build and implement an 
enhanced financing strategy for 
the Foundation.

• Work with community, business 
and opinion leaders to establish, 
in the long term, a Future Fund 
for Children – delivering tangible 
returns and measurable impact 
on the lives of children.

PROGRESS 

• Continued implementing our 
Financing the Future strategy, 
now in its fourth year.

• Continued implementing a 
revised corporate acquisition 
strategy and managing a future 
pipeline of opportunities.

• Opened an office in New South 
Wales.

• Continued implementing 
renewed strategies for our events 
and community fundraising 
programs, including a renewed 
Starry Starry Night. 

• Held our second Buddy Run with 
1,000+ attendees.

• Launched our revised branding 
and how we talk about ourselves.

• Continued implementing a 
newly developed merchandising 
strategy with a try, test and 
learn focus for continuous 
improvement. 

A renewed focus on this 
strategy is anticipated in year 
four to five of our Financing the 
Future strategy.



Progression of our Strategic Plan 
2017-2021 – by priority 
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Further develop, implement and promote the programs and response 
services to support children affected by violence.

Trauma comes in many forms, such 
as physical, sexual and emotional 
abuse, neglect, family violence, 
community violence, family 
breakdown, grief and loss, exposure 
to mental illness, substance 
addiction as well as natural 
disasters. All of these can impact a 
child’s ability to learn. 

Memory, language, social 
functioning, self-regulation, the 
need for control, attachments 
and peer relationships can all be 
negatively impacted.

The earlier we can start working 
with children affected by trauma, 
the more likely they will begin 
the process of healing from these 
experiences and reaching their full 
potential. 

Investing in children provides the 
best return for long term social 
impact.

Introducing…  
Early Years Trauma 
Consultancy Service 
(TraCS)
The roles of teachers and educators 
are much more complex in 
today’s world. They are frequently 
called on to act as social workers, 
psychologists and family therapists 
to the most vulnerable in our 
community, and they also play 
a significant part in establishing 
connections with traumatised 
children, so they are able to engage 
in learning. 

Family violence, inter-generational 
poverty, abuse or neglect, illness, 
family breakdown or substance 
abuse can traumatise young 
children and deeply affect their 
physical and emotional behaviours. 
This can happen to children of 
any age and the impact can be felt 
across a lifetime.

Quality early learning programs 
make the world of difference when 
it comes to supporting children’s 
learning and development. We 
know that a child’s early learning 
experiences are crucial to their 
success in later life, and teachers 
build and shape those skills that will 
see them flourish.

But some children need more 
support to be ready for school and 
over the last few years, more early 
learning centres and kindergartens 
are finding greater vulnerability 
among their children and families.

That is where the Alannah & 
Madeline Foundation’s new Early 
Years Trauma Consultancy Service 
(TraCS) steps in.

Drawing on the Foundation’s 
extensive experience working with 
vulnerable children, TraCS helps 
early years staff work with children 
aged 3-5 years affected by trauma 
– enabling staff to understand 
challenging behaviours and how 
best to respond to them. It builds 
up educators’ capabilities and helps 
build relationships – the foundation 
of healing – to get children ready 
for school.

TraCS also provides a safe and 
supportive setting for kindergarten 
staff to manage their own 
emotional responses to these 
challenges. It gives them a forum 
to debrief from difficult interactions 
with children or parents and by 
doing this, the rate of burnout 
and isolation – common at 
many centres due to the local 
community’s high needs – is 
significantly reduced.

Our expert practitioners are working 
with early childhood centres and 
kindergartens initially in Victoria 
under the School Readiness 
Funding Program, funded by the 
Department of Education and 
Training.

11 
Caring for those affected by violence
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Cubby House
When decisions are being made 
about a child’s future in court, many 
children and young people who 
are present are traumatised and 
extremely vulnerable.

The award-winning Cubby 
House provides a customised 
safe space for these children and 
young people under the care of 
the Department of Health and 
Human Services (DHHS) at the 
Broadmeadows Children’s Court 
and Melbourne Children’s Court.  

The Cubby House’s safe, calming 
and comfortable atmosphere helps 
to reduce anxiety, trauma, conflict 
and fear in a secure environment. 
Skilled youth workers are on-hand 
to provide ongoing activities, 
support and a range of distractions 
for children to support them during 
this time.

It plays a critical role in promoting 
wellbeing and a positive 
environment for both children and 
DHHS staff, providing a productive 
workspace for DHHS with oversight 
to the children’s area as they retain 
duty of care for children and young 
people whilst at court.

More than 1,700 children have 
visited our Cubby Houses, with  
70 per cent of these young people 
being aged 10-15 years.

Plans are underway to expand this 
program into other court buildings 
in Victoria. 

Children Ahead
Children Ahead provides intensive, 
therapeutic support for children and 
young people aged up to 18 years 
to assist with their recovery from 
significant trauma or violence.

Through research, evidence 
and experience we know that 
for children and young people 
to recover from violence they 
need a safe, predictable and 
stable environment, as well as 
the opportunity to express and 
communicate their feelings, positive 
relationships, connection to family, 
and resilience. 

Our qualified case managers 
work directly with children and 
young people, alongside their 
families, to support their emotional, 
educational and social needs, 
as well as their psychological 
wellbeing and any overall health 
concerns.

Case managers also work 
collaboratively with relevant 
agencies to make sure children (and 
their families) who are suffering 
the effects of trauma and violence 
have the community connections 
needed for immediate and long-
term support.

In 2019 we strengthened our 
partnership with Merri Health 
in Wangaratta and appointed 
additional resources to help cope 
with demand in northern Victoria 
for children who had been the 
victims of serious crime.  

Buddy Bags
Each year, tens of thousands 
of children in Australia enter 
emergency accommodation – 
some arrive with only the clothes 
they are wearing. 

Our Buddy Bags program helps 
these children by providing them 
with a backpack of basic essential 
items on arrival. It is theirs to call 
their own, no matter where they go. 

Buddy Bags are backpacks 
containing basic, essential items: a 
toothbrush, toothpaste, hairbrush, 
pillowcase, facewasher, PJs, 
underwear and socks, as well 
as a book, photo frame and the 
all-important teddy bear. They’re 
simple, everyday items that most of 
us take for granted. 

In addition to providing material aid, 
Buddy Bags help restore a sense of 
safety and security into children’s 
lives during this time of trauma, 
which is one of the vital first steps to 
recovery. 

We deliver 10,000 Buddy Bags 
every year. Since the program was 
introduced in 2007, at the end of 
2019 we reached the bittersweet 
milestone of distributing our 
100,000th Buddy Bag.

Demand continues to increase.

  Early childhood teachers and educators are 
facing almost ‘an epidemic of need’ in vulnerable 
children who have experienced trauma. 

Lee Cameron, Head of Care 

100,600+100,600+
children have received  
a Buddy Bag
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  I like the diary and the teddy bear, 
also the photo frame too. I like the tooth 
brush so I can brush my teeth. I also like 
the book becasue I can read. 
Buddy Bag recipient 
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Develop engaged, vigilant and critical thinking children equipped with 
eSmart know-how and behaviours to be smart, safe and responsible online.

Improve children’s wellbeing in what is a rapidly changing landscape that 
already includes The Internet of Things, Augmented Reality, Virtual Reality 
and potentially in the near future, Artificial Intelligence.

As a nation, we should all be 
working to ensure we invest 
time and resources into raising 
a generation of smart, safe and 
responsible children who are 
capable and compassionate –  
both online and offline.

eSmart is a world-leading initiative 
that is working to achieve this. It 
is a framework that empowers 
communities to help ensure they 
are developing smart, engaged 
and critical-thinking people. By 
equipping people with eSmart 
know-how and behaviours, we 
can reduce the risks and improve 
protective factors for violence 
against children across individual, 
relationship, community and social 
levels.

It helps create positive and inclusive 
communities that reduce bullying 
and cyber bullying, as well as 
increase online safety, which 
is critical in our ever-changing 
technological world.

Schools
eSmart Schools was developed 
in response to schools’ expressed 
need for a positive and evidence-
informed framework to address 
issues of bullying, cyber bullying 
and online safety. 

The framework provides Australian 
schools with the tools and resources 
required to build and maintain 
a positive culture of bullying 
prevention, and teachers are 
supported to champion respectful 
behaviours and educate students 
and parents in online safety. 

Every eSmart school embraces 
technology in a smart, safe and 
responsible way.

In 2019 we continued to progress 
more eSmart Schools to eSmart 
Membership, providing schools with 
exclusive access to best-practice 
resources and member benefits 
so they continue to have the most 
current and relevant information 
and materials in our ever-changing 
digital world.

Thanks to funding from both 
the Victorian and Tasmanian 
governments, we have been 
able to engage more schools to 
become eSmart and we are also 
working with the Queensland and 
Northern Territory governments 
to implement eSmart in schools in 
conjunction with Dolly’s Dream.

Libraries
With public libraries being the 
most heavily used community 
centres in Australia, they enable 
us to reach out to some of the 
most disadvantaged members 
of our society. More than half 
of Australians are public library 
members, making more than 110 
million visits a year to 1,500 public 
libraries across the country.

More than 80 per cent of these 
libraries are participating in eSmart 
Libraries, equipping libraries, staff 
and library users with the skills they 
need for smart, safe and responsible 
use of digital technology.

Following the implementation of 
eSmart, an independent evaluation 
showed that 100 per cent of library 
managers feel competent and 
confident online to support library 
users to use technology in the 
library.

eSmart Libraries is a partnership 
between the Alannah & Madeline 
Foundation and the Telstra 
Foundation and is one of the  
most significant community online 
safety initiatives ever undertaken in 
Australia.
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Digital Licence
In a world that is increasingly 
connected, ensuring children have 
the digital know-how to be safe 
online is crucial. They need to be 
aware of what to do when they are 
exposed to inappropriate content, 
encounter cyber bullying, or when 
they are putting their privacy at risk.

The eSmart Digital Licence delivers 
just that – Australia’s #1 selling 
online safety education program 
that teaches school age children 
how to play, learn and socialise 
safely in the digital world. 

Delivered via a fun, interactive 
quiz, the Digital Licence uses real 
life scenarios to help teachers, 
parents and children be equipped 
to be smart, safe and responsible 
online, as well as evaluating 
comprehension and knowledge 
around online safety.

To address the increasing concern 
of children being able to swipe 
before they can read, we released 
a junior primary version at the 
beginning of 2019. As students 
progress through their school years, 
they will also encounter primary 
and secondary versions of the 
Digital Licence, both of which are 
updated regularly to reflect the 
ever-changing landscape. 

At the end of 2019, more than 
270,000 students have registered 
for their Digital Licence.

Connect
With technology – and its 
associated risks – continually 
evolving, it’s hard for teachers, 
parents and students to stay up 
to date with relevant information 
and guidance. Some information is 
obsolete by the time it is learnt.

Using the expertise from our 
world-leading programs, Connect 
provides workshops related to 
online safety, bullying, wellbeing, 
as well as respectful relationships. 
The 60 minute sessions are held 
in community organisations, 
businesses and schools to educate 
students – as well as teachers and 
parents.

New, topical workshops are 
consistently introduced, the latest 
being the highly successful Share 
this: sexting and image-based 
abuse, which examines these issues 
in a new way by encouraging 
students to discuss what it means to 
be in a respectful relationship and 
reflect on issues of consent.

Our dedicated Connect facilitators 
have delivered more than 1,000 
workshops to 67,000 people in 
metropolitan, regional and remote 
areas around the country.

Connect is a Certified Online Safety 
Program Provider of the Office of 
the eSafety Commissioner.

  I honestly can say that one of the most impressive 
programs my daughter’s primary school participated 
in was the eSmart Digital Licence. It has enabled her 
independence to navigate the internet with confidence 
and the knowledge to make good choices. I am grateful 
that she had this opportunity   

Tonia, mother of 12-year-old 

270,150+270,150+ students have been 
registered for their 
Digital Licence



Better Buddies
Experiencing bullying can have a 
devastating effect on a child and 
can impact self-esteem, behaviour, 
and the ability to concentrate and 
perform at school. One in four 
children are bullied in Australia.

Children who bully others are more 
likely to go on to commit anti-
social behaviour and criminal acts, 
having long-term psychological, 
physical and financial impacts on 
communities.

Better Buddies creates friendly 
and caring primary schools where 
bullying is reduced. It encourages 
cross-age relationships across 
different levels and incorporates 
the Better Buddies values of caring, 
friendliness, respect, valuing 
difference, including others and 
responsibility across the school. 
The evidence-based framework 
complements existing school 
welfare programs, is easy to 
implement and links to national 
curriculum initiatives. 

When students have the skills and 
understanding of how to engage 
in positive, respectful and inclusive 
relationships, then negative 
behaviour – such as bullying – can 
be reduced. 

We have embarked on a review 
of the existing program for further 
refinements and enhancements 
for both teacher and student 
experiences.

  Our Student Attitude to School 
survey has improved dramatically since the 
introduction of Better Buddies, especially 
in the areas of Student Morale, School and 
Peer Connectedness. Our parents regularly 
comment on the success of the Better 
Buddies program. 
Teacher, Avoca PS 
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Shift community and cultural attitudes and behaviours to be  
child focused, with zero tolerance of bullying and violence.

In 2019 we continued to work 
alongside many organisations, 
advancing our research, expanding 
our programs and developing new 
initiatives.

National Centre Against 
Bullying (NCAB)
Established in 2002 by the Alannah 
& Madeline Foundation, NCAB 
comprises volunteer experts 
who work closely with school 
communities, government and 
industry. 

Members include some of 
Australia’s leading experts in the 
field of bullying and cyber bullying, 
including psychologists, academics, 
researchers and educators.

Chaired by the former Chief Justice 
of the Family Court of Australia, the 
Hon Diana Bryant AO, NCAB plays 
an important role in speaking out 
for children and advocating for their 
right to be free from bullying. 

In 2019 NCAB partnered with the 
Positive Schools Conference to 
present in Brisbane, Melbourne, 
Sydney and Perth to more than 
2,000 participants. 

Community safety
Following the Port Arthur 
tragedy in 1996, all Australian 
governments agreed on a national 
approach to the regulation of 
firearms. This included severe 
restrictions on all automatic and 
semi-automatic weapons as part 
of a comprehensive gun safety 
framework. This is known as the 
National Firearms Agreement (NFA).

As a result, Australia has one of the 
lowest gun-related death rates in 
the developed world.

However, despite it being 24 
years since, none of our states or 
territories are fully compliant with 
the NFA.

The Foundation is committed to 
reducing the risk of death and harm 
from firearms in our community. 
In particular, we are working to 
reduce the impact of firearm related 
violence on children.

Part of our work is to increase 
public awareness and contribute 
to a more balanced public debate 
on the issue and we have been 
working with the Australian Gun 
Safety Alliance which is made up 
of like-minded organisations and 
individuals who work collaboratively 
to achieve these outcomes.  

The Foundation is pleased that, 
following 18 months of discussion, 
the Tasmanian Government’s Select 
Committee on Firearms Legislation 
and Policy has strongly supported 
the National Firearms Agreement 
(NFA).

During the year the Foundation was 
invited by the Hon. Jason Wood 
MP, Assistant Minister for Customs, 
Community Safety and Multicultural 
Affairs to the first ever consultation 
with gun control advocates in 
Canberra.

Chaired by Assistant Minister Wood 
along with Ross Vasta MP, Liberal 
National Party of Queensland, 
the meeting was also attended by 
participants from the Australian 
Federal Police, Border Force, 
Customs, Australian Institute of 
Criminology, Department of Home 
Affairs and the Assistant Minister’s 
office.

The meeting contributed to 
announcements by the Assistant 
Minister to implement a permanent 
firearm amnesty, increased penalties 
for firearm trafficking and a ban on 
Bump-Stocks. 

We are also working with all 
jurisdictions around the country on 
firearm policies and regulations.
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Lead advances in community understanding of violence and bullying in 
a digital age. Translate research to develop and deliver innovative child-
centred solutions.

Our Program, Development, 
Innovation and Advocacy team 
continues to address the challenges 
children face in our technologically 
driven world, from program 
development to presenting our 
work at events around the country.

Safe Sistas
Funded by Facebook and 
delivered in partnership with the 
Stars Foundation, Safe Sistas is a 
workshop that addresses young 
Indigenous women’s online safety 
practices to reduce and respond to 
the issue of image-based abuse.

The workshops focus on raising 
awareness and changing 
perceptions of behaviours related 
to online relationships and sharing 
intimate images. Safe Sistas aims to 
reduce victim blaming and promote 
positive conversations about online 
interactions across generations and 
genders.

The workshops draw on and 
enhance the work of the Alannah & 
Madeline Foundation with the Stars 
Foundation, and have taken place in 
schools in Darwin, Jabiru, Arnhem 
Land, Katherine, Tenant Creek, 
Townsville and Mildura.

A similar program for young 
Indigenous men is currently being 
developed.

Garma Festival
During the year, staff from the 
Foundation attended the Garma 
Festival of Traditional Cultures in 
north eastern Arnhem Land run by 
the Yothu Yindi Foundation.

The annual festival is a celebration 
of the cultural inheritance of the 
Yolngu people and is the largest 
Indigenous cultural gathering in 
Australia. This year we were invited 
to be the Festival’s youth program 
online safety partner.

The Foundation delivered a series 
of tailored Connect workshops 
to Garma attendees over the four 
days to build skills, knowledge and 
confidence to challenge online 
bullying and promote safe and 
respectful behaviours.

We were proud to be there – 
thanks to financial support from 
Facebook and Telstra – to deliver 
this important training and support 
in partnership with Garma through 
the youth forum.

Media Literacy Lab
With the support of Google.org,  
we have been working with 
leading experts to develop Media 
Literacy Lab. This ground-breaking 
education resource is for students 
aged 12-15 years and equips 
them with the skills they need to 
effectively navigate the online 
environment and thrive in their 
relationship with media, both on 
and offline.

It is becoming increasingly critical 
for young people to know how 
technology is structured so they 
understand how it influences 
what they consume and produce, 
and how they share information, 
including what their digital footprint 
looks like and how it is used.

As students become more 
media literate with the Lab, their 
knowledge, skills and critical 
thinking deepens, building thought 
leaders and their capacity to 
challenge misinformation.

Media Literacy Lab will be available 
in schools in 2020.

44 
Learning through evidence and embracing innovation and change
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To have an ethical, efficient and sustainable 
financing model for growth to enable us to 
help more children.

In 2019 we entered the fourth 
year of our Financing the Future 
strategy. This work continued 
the implementation of a focused 
corporate acquisition strategy, 
community fundraising programs 
and managing a future pipeline of 
opportunities to continue helping 
even more children. 

Work also continued on our 
merchandising strategy as part 
of our ethical and sustainable 
financing model.
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Dolly’s Dream
At the beginning of 2018, the 
Foundation, like the rest of the 
country, was devastated by the 
untimely death of 14-year-old 
Dolly Everett. 

Dolly took her own life after an 
extended period of bullying and 
cyber bullying. 

Established in Dolly’s memory 
by her parents, Kate and Tick 
Everett and her sister Meg, Dolly’s 
Dream acts as a voice for those 
who cannot speak for themselves, 
working to empower and educate 
our community to prevent 
bullying and cyber bullying 
and help stop the lives of other 
children being lost. 

The Foundation supports Dolly’s 
Dream by providing a home base, 
shared resources and legal and 
financial governance expertise, as 
well as connecting the Advisory 
Board to experts in bullying 
education, cultural change and 
child protection. This all ensures 
that Dolly’s Dream is informed by 
evidence-based and best practice 
methodologies.

In 2018, our first year, we made 
significant inroads meeting with 
state governments and designing 
programs, and in 2019 many of 
these have been realised.

Bullying resources for 
parents
Many parents know that teaching 
their children about online safety 
education is important, but many 
are not quite sure how to go 
about it. As a result, the Parent 
Hub was developed.

The Parent Hub is a resource with 
the most trusted information 
from around the internet about 
online safety and bullying.

It is structured to help all 
parents – no matter what their 
parenting style is – because 
everyone deals with online safety 
issues differently. Some parents 
have strict rules about using 
technology while others don’t. 

The four ‘typical’ parenting 
styles on our site were formed 
by consultancy firm PwC, and 
takes into account the growing 
challenges in the digital world 
and how they affect young 
people and their parents. The 
research covered people from 
different backgrounds, different 
parts of the country, different 
incomes, different lifestyles, 
different family set-ups, as well as 
children of all ages.

The Parent Hub simplifies that as 
a single point of trustworthy and 
regularly updated information, 
saving parents having to scour 
the internet for resources to help 
their children.

Topics covered on the Parent 
Hub include bullying and cyber 
bullying, communication with 
teens, online stranger danger, 
porn, violence and social media.

These new resources will help 
reset discussions around cyber 
bullying, providing parents with 
the right tools so they can be part 
of the solution.

Are your words doing 
damage?
In October, Kate and Tick Everett 
welcomed a first-of-its-kind anti-
bullying video created by teens 
for teens.

Written and directed for Dolly’s 
Dream by 15-year-old filmmaker 
Charlotte McLaverty, and with 
the backing of young American 
musician Billie Eilish, the video 
takes a fresh approach to tackling 
cyber bullying.

The story draws attention to the 
widespread nature of online 
bullying, and highlights how 
much it can impact a person, 
asking young viewers, “Are your 
words doing damage?”.

The video is intended to make 
teens stop and think about the 
impact their words could be 
having and get young people 
speaking up about this issue in an 
effort to help stop it.

The video is also a reminder to 
everyone that online bullying 
can happen anywhere, even at 
the dining table or watching 
television with the family, without 
parents even being aware.

The teenage director of the video, 
Charlotte McLaverty, aims for her 
film to connect with teenagers 
in a different way to traditional 
resources and influences people 
her age to have a conversation 
about how we speak to each 
other and to think before they 
write toxic messages online.

It also gives parents an insight 
into the isolation that young 
people can face when they are 
cyber bullied.



EDUCATING
Providing bullying and cyber 
bullying resources for parents via  
parenthub.dollysdream.org.au

DELIVERING
Co-funding the NT  
and QLD Governments’ 
introduction of eSmart 
Schools to reduce bullying

REACHING 
8 million+ Australians have heard 
Dolly’s story

INFLUENCING
Helping prevent lives 
being lost to bullying

FUNDRAISING
$2.2 million generated 
in support

HONORING 
Kate and Tick Everett 
awarded 2019 
Australian of the Year 
Local Heroes

ADVOCATING
Contributing to policy 
discussions with all 
governments

INSPIRING
350+ fundraising 
activities

EMPOWERING
Encouraging people to 
stand up to bullying, 
support those affected 
and to speak even if their 
voice shakes

PRESENTING 
Delivery of online
safety workshops in 
rural and regional parts  
of Australia
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We’ve achieved so much in such a short time
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Pledging kindness
We ended the year with the 
release of the DigiPledge, 
calling on parents to help 
their teenagers pledge to be 
kind and stay safe online.

The DigiPledge is a quiz that 
helps teach young people to 
make the best choices when 
they are online, and to think 
about their actions and what 
they see.

Parents and carers can learn 
alongside their teenagers 
using real-life examples about 
how to stay safe.

Consisting of eight modules of 
fun questions, the DigiPledge 
ends with a pledge for teens 
to sign, promising to always 
choose kindness and support 
Dolly’s Dream’s vision to end 
cyber bullying.

It also allows the opportunity 
to talk to children about 
their experiences online, 
creating opportunities for 
open discussions. By doing 
this, hopefully children will be 
more comfortable being open 
with their parents or carers 
if they are being hassled or 
bullied online, which is the 
optimal outcome.

By physically signing the 
pledge, it demonstrates 
commitment to championing 
kindness and is a step that 
families can take to say no to 
bullying and cyber bullying. 
The DigiPledge is as much 
about learning how to deal 
with bullying as it is about 
taking action.

Do it for Dolly Day
More than 1.2 million people 
took part in the inaugural  
Do it for Dolly Day on Friday 
10 May.

The day is dedicated to 
commemorating Dolly and 
supporting her family’s 
mission by ‘going blue’ at 
school or work and holding 
fundraising events to help 
provide valuable resources to 
parents of bullied children.

Blue was Dolly’s favourite 
colour and creating a sea of 
blue on Do it for Dolly Day is 
a reminder for people to be 
kind to those around them. 
Remembering to always 
treat others with respect is a 
positive first step in lessening 
the impact of bullying.

Schools, workplaces and 
communities around the 
country were awash with 
blue on the day, championing 
kindness. We saw fundraisers 
in the form of blue sausage 
sizzles (there were even 
blueberry sausages!); shop 
fronts decorated blue; Dolly’s 
Dream trucks taking to our 
roads and schools dressing up 
for the day. It was amazing.

#DoItForDollyDay
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THANK YOU
We’ve been overwhelmed 
by your support. Thank you. 

BUSINESS AND COMMUNITY
Akubra
Annie & Cameron Cooper
All-Women‘s Simpson Desert  

Crossing Team
Australian Agricultural Company 

Limited
Australian Stock Horse Society
Australian of the Year Awards
Bairnsdale Bands Together
Barkly Beef Dinner
Baxter Boots
Bairnsdale Horse Centre
Billie Eilish
BWS Northern Territory
Combine Rural Traders
Cox Inall Change
Dancing Under the Stars
Dolly‘s Dream Team, Bridge to 

Brisbane
Facebook
Georgia Barnes
Katherine Outback Experience
Keith Flynn
Kimberley Pilbara Cattlemen‘s 

Association
Langleigh Farm Stays
Marmalade
North Queensland Cowboys
Northern Territory Government
Queensland Government
Richmond Football Club - AFLW
Tom Curtain
Upper Murray Horseman‘s Association 

TRUSTS AND FOUNDATIONS
The Corella Fund
K & MV Topliss Charitable Foundation
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We just couldn’t do what we do – and help the number 
of children that we do – without our supporters.

PATRONS

Walter Mikac AM

HRH Crown Princess  
Mary of Denmark

The Hon. Scott Morrison MP, 
Prime Minister of Australia

Her Excellency Professor the 
Honourable Kate Warner AC 

AMBASSADORS

The Hon Alastair  
Nicholson AO RFD QC

Ashton Kline

Caitlin Figueiredo

Dan Jackson

George Megalogenis

Jimmy Bartel

John Caldwell

Melissa Doyle AM

Tim Payne 

FOUNDING MEMBERS

Gaye Fidler

John Fidler

BUSINESS AND 
COMMUNITY

3AW

Ace Radio

AGL

ASG

Ashurst 

Asurion

Auguste The Label 

Australia Post

Australian Federal Police

Australian Human  
Rights Commission

Australian Library & 
Information Association

Australian Public  
Libraries Alliance

Bank First

Bartercard

Behavioural Insights

Bostik

Bunnings

Care Factor

Caprice

Chameleon

Children‘s Court of Victoria

Childs Farm

City of Melbourne

Cooee Brands

Corporate Challenge

Corporate Edge Marketing

Cottle on Coventry

Court Services Victoria

Coventry Bookstore

Crown Resorts

David Parkin

Davidson Consulting Group

Demos Property Services

Department of Education 
Northern Territory

Department of Education 
Queensland 

Department of Education 
Tasmania 

Department of Education 
and Training Victoria 

Department of Health and 
Human Services Victoria

Department of Justice and 
Community Safety Victoria 

Dobsons 

Eastland Shopping Centre

Eat Up

Embassy of Denmark in 
Australia

Ernst & Young

Facebook

FareShare 

Federal Group

Global Interactive

Google.org

Google New Zealand

Government of Queensland

Government of the Northern 
Territory 

Government of Tasmania

Government of Victoria

Great Ocean Road &  
Yarra Valley Chocolaterie  
& Ice Creamery

Grill‘d Galeries

Hardie Grant Egmont

Herald Sun

Highview Accounting  
& Financial

Hobart Airport

Hume Doors & Timber

Impact Pay

Innate Financial Service 
Group

Infoxchange Australia

International Federation  
of Library Associations

Intermain

Intrepid Design

JBWere

Kay & Burton

KOGO

Marmalade

Mattel

McDonald‘s Australia

McKinsey & Company

Melbourne Racing Club

Microsoft

Minter Ellison

Foundation Partner

Major Partners

Thank youThank youThank you
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National and State  
Libraries Australasia

National Centre of 
Indigenous Excellence

NetSafe

News Corp

Nicholes Family Lawyers

Office of the eSafety 
Commissioner

Office of the Prime Minister, 
the Hon Scott Morrison MP

Origin Energy

Pacific Magazines

Paspaley Group

PEXA

Pitcher Partners

Pointcook Pharmacy

Port Arthur Historic Site 
Management Authority

Port Melbourne  
Football Club

Public Libraries Australia

Rachel Anning 

RACT

Rob Masters

Rotary Club of Brighton

Royal Melbourne Institute 
of Technology

RWR Group

Salon Pay 

Secretariat of National 
Aboriginal & Islander  
Child Care

Seek Limited

SHK Recruitment

S&J Media

Smiggle

Spotless

Spotlight

StarTrack

Storyline Developers

Swatch

TAC

Telstra Corporation

The Mercury

The Old Paper Shop Deli

The Opp Shop

The Push Up Tour

The Resolution

Tourism Industry  
Council Tasmania

Twitter

University of Tasmania

UnLtd

Victorian Commission for 
Children & Young People

Victorian Equal  
Opportunity & Human 
Rights Commission

Visy

Your Call

TRUSTS AND 
FOUNDATIONS

CMV Foundation

Community Impact 
Foundation - Pool  
of Dreams

Cubit Family Foundation

Dymocks Childrens 
Charities

Foundation ACE

Goldsmith Family 
Foundation

Honda Foundation

Phillips Foundation 

Providence Philanthropic 
Foundation

Scanlon Foundation 

Stars Foundation

Supré Foundation

The Andrew & Geraldine 
Buxton Foundation

The Mandy Deam 
Foundation

The Tauber-Troeth 
Foundation

Vincent Fairfax  
Family Foundation

Wheatley Family 
Foundation  

BRIGHTER FUTURES

Alan Pearce

Alison Richardson

Amanda Lepka

Ann L Stubbings

Barbara D Wall

Charles Macek

Cheryl Di Florio

Chris Armstrong

Elida Brereton

Greg Madson

Ian Denham

James Ruddock

John & Merienne 
Shortridge

Margaret Webb

Martin D Gans

Marfatia Family

Neil Spitzer

Nick Parry

Nicola S Cooney

Paul Abbey

Peter Hill

Russell & Sue Yardley

Sheryl Thomas

Stephen Peterson

Terry Scanlan

Tony Duncan

Wendy A Leeson  

REGULAR VOLUNTEERS

Barbara White

Damon Craig

Debbie Watson

Elaine Haggett

Eve Korytkowski

Harrison Boyle

Rosemary Marfatia

Sally Newby

Sandra Cooper 

Sylvia Hall 

NCAB MEMBERS

Anita Davidson

Dr Charlotte Keating

Coosje Griffiths

Hon Chief Justice  
Diana Bryant (Chair)

Elida Brereton

The Hon Joseph Kay AM

Katie Acheson

Lucy Thomas

Maree Davidson

Dr Michael Carr-Gregg

Nick Duggal  
(Associate Member)

Dr Pamela Bartholomaeus

Rosie Thomas

Dr Sonia Sharp

Sue Cahill

Susan McLean  
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Trustee’s Report
Incorporation 

The Alannah & Madeline Foundation was established on 6 March 1997 as a Trust. The current 
Trustee of the Foundation is The Alannah & Madeline Foundation Limited, which was incorporated on 
1 March 2000 with an ACN number of 090 752 800. The trust company is a company limited by 
guarantee. 

Operations 

The Alannah & Madeline Foundation is headquartered in South Melbourne, Victoria but operates 
nationally. As at 31 December 2019, 79 staff were employed by the Foundation, 31 of whom were 
part-time or casual. 

Principal activities 

Our vision is that every child will live in a safe and supportive environment. 

The Alannah and Madeline Foundation is a national charity protecting children from violence and 
bullying and its devastating impacts. The Foundation was set up in memory of Alannah and Madeline 
Mikac, aged six and three, who were tragically killed with their mother and 32 others at Port Arthur, 
Tasmania on 28 April 1996. 

We care for children who experience or witness serious violence. 

The Alannah & Madeline Foundation recognised that we had reached more than two million children 
since the Foundation began. 

Our Children Ahead Program helps children and youth aged 0 to 18 years and their families recover 
from the effects of violence and develop resilience through long-term therapeutic support. 

Children who have been traumatised can suffer more ill-health, feel insecure and have difficulty 
learning and managing their emotions. Trauma can also distort children’s perceptions of themselves 
and make it difficult to trust others.  
Our qualified case workers work directly with the children and families and support their emotional, 
educational and social needs, as well as psychological wellbeing and any overall health concerns.  

Children Ahead provides holistic support essential to children’s recovery which is tailored to suit the 
needs of individual children.  

The Children Ahead team coordinate opportunities for children to participate in sports, camps and 
special events, and also arrange tutoring in keeping with a child’s needs. These everyday activities 
that many of us take for granted can make a significant difference in a child’s journey to recovery. 

In Australia, tens of thousands of children enter emergency care each year, often with nothing but the 
clothes they are wearing. Through our Buddy Bags Program these children receive a backpack full 
of essential items including toiletries, pyjamas, socks, underwear, a teddy bear, photo frame and 
pillowcase. Buddy Bags help restore a sense of security in these children’s lives. In 2019, we packed 
and delivered our 100,000th Buddy Bag. 

The Alannah & Madeline Foundation continued to operate the “Cubby House” as part of the 
Broadmeadows Children’s Court and in 2018 opened the Cubby House at Melbourne Children’s 
Court.  

Cubby House caters for hundreds of children annually and is Australia’s first purpose-built space – 
within a court building – that includes a youth worker on hand to provide support. This skilled youth 
worker provides activities, support and a range of distractions for children who are under the care of 
the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS)  while they wait for their personal family 
matters to be heard before the court. 
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Trustee’s Report (continued)
In 2019 we established our Early Years Trauma Consultancy Service (TraCS) . Trauma comes in 
many forms, such as physical, sexual and emotional abuse, neglect, family violence, community 
violence, family breakdown, grief and loss, exposure to mental illness and substance addiction. 
Children who have experienced trauma can be very difficult for early years staff to manage – 
exhibiting challenging behaviours as well as difficulties regulating emotions. They can require 
intensive support to get them ‘school ready’. Drawing on the Alannah & Madeline Foundation’s 
extensive experience working with vulnerable children, our Early Years Trauma Consultancy Service 
(TraCS)  helps early years staff work with children aged 3-5 years affected by trauma – enabling staff 
to understand challenging behaviours and how best to respond to them. 

We develop programs which help prevent violence in the lives of children 

Our Better Buddies Framework is a whole-school initiative designed to create friendly and caring 
primary school communities where bullying is reduced. Better Buddies pairs students entering their 
first year of primary school with an older buddy to help them feel safe, valued and connected to their 
new school community. The Framework encourages students to incorporate the Better Buddies 
values: caring for others, friendliness, respect, valuing difference, including others and responsibility. 
Better Buddies allows younger students to feel safe and cared for, while older students feel valued 
and respected.   

eSmart Schools, an initiative of The Alannah & Madeline Foundation, is a behaviour-change system 
to help schools improve cyber safety and wellbeing whilst and dealing with cyber bullying and bullying. 
Designed specifically for Australian schools, the online system provides a road map to cyber safety 
and supports the development of children and young people to embrace the benefits of technology, 
while learning how to guard against security and privacy risks, research and download content in an 
ethical and legal manner, and to manage reputation- and relationship-based issues online.  

Using a behaviour change approach, similar to the SunSmart campaign, eSmart aims to create a 
community of students, teachers and parents who are smart, safe and responsible with technology. 

eSmart Libraries, one of the most significant community cyber safety initiatives ever undertaken in 
Australia – is a behaviour change system for libraries to improve cyber safety and wellbeing and deal 
with cyber bullying. The online system delivers the tools and resources to equip the community with 
the skills and knowledge they need for the smart, safe and responsible use of technology.  

eSmart Digital Licence is an online educational resource, developed by the Foundation and 
launched with the assistance of Google in 2015. The eSmart Digital Licence has eight interactive, fun, 
yet challenging cyber topics that equip students with critical knowledge they need to learn, play and 
socialise online. Promoted as a cyber-safety and digital literacy aid to teachers over nearly 270,000 
Australian children have signed-up for the eSmart Digital Licence. 

The Foundation continued to deliver the Connect speaker and consultancy service, which provides 
workshops and presentations in schools, workplaces and the broader community in the Foundation’s 
areas of expertise. It also consults to workplaces, sporting clubs and community organisations.  

We play an advocacy role and we’re a voice against childhood violence 

The National Centre Against Bullying (NCAB)  is a peak body working to advise and inform the 
Australian community on childhood bullying and the creation of safe schools and communities, 
including the issue of cyber safety. Established in 2002, NCAB’s 21 members include some of 
Australia’s leading experts in the field of bullying and cyberbullying – including academics, 
researchers, psychologists and educators. 

The Foundation relies on the generous support of our dedicated volunteers, as well as donations and 
gifts-in-kind from the community and our corporate friends.  We ran a number of fundraising events in 
2019 including Foundation’s annual Starry Starry Night Ball in June and for the 2nd year, our Buddy 
Run.  
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Trustee’s Report (continued)
Dolly’s Dream - At the beginning of 2018, the Foundation, like the rest of the country, was devastated 
by the untimely death of 14-year-old Amy ‘Dolly’ Everett. Dolly was the victim of relentless bullying. 
Established in Dolly’s memory by her parents, Kate and Tick Everett and her sister Meg, Dolly’s 
Dream acts as a voice for those who cannot speak for themselves and works to prevent the lives of 
other children being lost. Dolly’s Dream raises awareness about the serious issue of bullying and its 
devastating effects, provides assistance and supports children affected by bullying, educates the 
community about bullying issues and advocates for bullying laws and regulations, delivers information 
on ways to help prevent bullying and cyber bullying in communities and works to change cultures and 
prevent bullying through a variety of educative approaches. 

Non-monetary contribution 

To support the ongoing activities of the Foundation, goods and services are donated by individual and 
corporate supporters. This includes everything from donated goods such as items for sale at events 
through to pro-bono professional activities such as legal services. To better reflect the total level of 
Foundation activity, the non-monetary contribution has been quantified in 2019 at $2,498,484 (2018: 
$2,926,196) . The value of donated time by volunteers has not been measured. 
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Trustee’s Report (continued) 
 

Directors 

The following persons were directors of The Alannah & Madeline Foundation Limited (the Trustee 
Company) as of the end of the financial year: 

Peter Blunden    Robert Speedie   Terry Hearity 

Russell Yardley   Eamonn Fitzpatrick  Richard Broug         

Launa Inman   Rebecca Kardos  Hilary Johnston-Croke 

Lesley Podesta   Caroline Walker (Approved leave of absence from 5 December 2019) 

Greg Sutherland (Chair & Alternate Director for Caroline Walker from 5 December 2019)   

Director’s benefits 

No benefits (cash or in kind) have been bestowed upon any director. All directors participate in the 
administration of the Foundation on a voluntary basis.  

Indemnification and insurance of directors and officers 

During the financial year the Foundation paid a premium to insure all Directors against liabilities for 
costs and expenses incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct 
whilst acting in the capacity of Director of The Alannah & Madeline Foundation. 

Auditor 

Ernst & Young is the appointed auditor for the Foundation and continue in office. Ernst & Young 
performed their audit pro-bono by donating the amount of the audit fees to the Foundation.  

 

 

Greg Sutherland       Lesley Podesta  
Director of Trustee Company     Director of Trustee Company 
 
20 March 2020       20 March 2020 
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Trustee’s Declaration 
 

In accordance with a resolution of the Trustee of The Alannah & Madeline Foundation, we state that: 

In the opinion of the Trustee: 

(a) the financial statements and notes of the Foundation are drawn up so as to: 

(i) give a true and fair view of the Foundation’s financial position as at 31 December 
2019 and of its performance for the year ended 31 December 2019 

(ii) comply with Australian Accounting Standards – reduced disclosure requirements as 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board, the Corporations Act 2001 and 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Foundation will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable. 

 

On behalf of the Trustee 

 
 
 
 
Greg Sutherland       Lesley Podesta  
Director of Trustee Company     Director of Trustee Company 
 
20 March 2020       20 March 2020
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

NOTE   31 December 2019   31 December 2018 

INCOME 

Income from Fundraising and Events 
Events 318,451 51,545 

Corporate fundraising 544,863 763,437 

Direct marketing   7,292,012 4,477,337 

Trusts and Foundations 360,834 263,662 

Grants 1,733,876 1,612,608 

Dolly’s Dream 816,995 1,590,916 

Digital Licence/eSmart/Connect/other  2,237,670 2,183,238 
General donations/regular giving/major donor 2,233,314 2,081,892 

Total Income from Fundraising and Events 15,538,015 13,024,635 

Other Income 
Interest Income 25,800 25,607 

Other Income 144,418 28,410 

Total other Income 170,218 54,017 

Total cash Income  15,708,233 13,078,652 

Non-monetary Income 2(c) 2,498,484 2,926,196 

TOTAL INCOME 18,206,717 16,004,848 

EXPENDITURE 

Programs expenditure 10,824,718 8,204,149 

Community education expenditure 521,833 536,505 

Non-monetary contribution 2(d) 2,394,836 2,221,047 

Total Programs expenditure 13,741,387 10,961,701 

Marketing / Fundraising cash expenditure 3,161,909 2,977,091 

Non-monetary contribution 2(d) 64,305 466,166 

Total Marketing/Fundraising expenditure 3,226,214 3,443,257 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

NOTE   31 December 2019   31 December 2018 

INCOME 

Income from Fundraising and Events 
Events 318,451 51,545 

Corporate fundraising 544,863 763,437 

Direct marketing   7,292,012 4,477,337 

Trusts and Foundations 360,834 263,662 

Grants 1,733,876 1,612,608 

Dolly’s Dream 816,995 1,590,916 

Digital Licence/eSmart/Connect/other  2,237,670 2,183,238 
General donations/regular giving/major donor 2,233,314 2,081,892 

Total Income from Fundraising and Events 15,538,015 13,024,635 

Other Income 
Interest Income 25,800 25,607 

Other Income 144,418 28,410 

Total other Income 170,218 54,017 

Total cash Income  15,708,233 13,078,652 

Non-monetary Income 2(c) 2,498,484 2,926,196 

TOTAL INCOME 18,206,717 16,004,848 

EXPENDITURE 

Programs expenditure 10,824,718 8,204,149 

Community education expenditure 521,833 536,505 

Non-monetary contribution 2(d) 2,394,836 2,221,047 

Total Programs expenditure 13,741,387 10,961,701 

Marketing / Fundraising cash expenditure 3,161,909 2,977,091 

Non-monetary contribution 2(d) 64,305 466,166 

Total Marketing/Fundraising expenditure 3,226,214 3,443,257 



Appendix 1 – page 8 The Alannah & Madeline Foundation Financial Report

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

NOTE  31 December 2019   31 December 2018 

Accountability and administration expenditure 1,186,948 688,607 

Non-monetary contribution 2(d) 39,343 238,983 

Total Accountability and Administration 
expenditure  

1,226,291 927,590 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 
 

18,193,892 15,332,548 

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 12,825 672,300 
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Statement of Financial Position 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 
NOTE     31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 10 2,286,982 2,470,067 

Trade and other receivables 4 1,180,393 947,828 

Prepayments  5 162,344 291,839 

Total Current Assets 3,629,719 3,709,734 

Non-Current Assets 
Investments 2(n) 1 1 
Intangible assets 9 463,317 71,757 

Plant and equipment  6 175,765 225,653 

Total Non-Current Assets 639,083 297,411 
TOTAL ASSETS 4,268,802 4,007,145 

LIABILITIES  
Current Liabilities  
Trade and other payables 562,846 401,285 

Accrued payables 7 & 11 473,316 282,285 

Contract Liabilities  2(k) 357,108 569,812 

Provision for employee benefits 8 240,628 105,925 

Total Current Liabilities 1,633,898 1,359,307 

Non-Current Liabilities 

Provision for employee benefits 8 48,830 74,589 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 48,830 74,589 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,682,728 1,433,896 

NET ASSETS 2,586,074 2,573,249 

Trust Funds 
Settlement sum 20 20 

Undistributed surpluses 2,586,054 2,573,229 

TOTAL TRUST FUNDS 2,586,074 2,573,249 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
NOTE 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Cash flows from / (used in) Operating 
activities 
Cash receipts in the course of operations 16,186,103 10,933,153 

Interest received   25,800 25,607 

Payments to employees and suppliers (15,768,908) (10,344,171) 

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating 
activities 10(a) 442,995 614,589 

Cash flows used in Investing activities  
Payments for fixed assets and intangible assets (626,080) (108,942) 

Net cash flows for the current year (183,085) 505,647 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash  (183,085) 505,647 

Cash at beginning of financial year 2,470,067 1,964,420 

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 10(b) 2,286,982 2,470,067 
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Statement of Changes in Funds 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
Settlement 

Sum 
Undistributed 

Surpluses 
Total Trust 

Funds 

AT 1 JANUARY 2019 20 2,573,229 2,573,249 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year - 12,825 12,825 

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - 12,825 12,825 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 20 2,586,054 2,586,074 

AT 1 JANUARY 2018 20 1,900,929 1,900,949 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  - 672,300 672,300 

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - 672,300 672,300 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 20 2,573,229 2,573,249 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

1. TRUST INFORMATION

The Alannah & Madeline Foundation is a trust domiciled in Australia.

The registered office of The Foundation is located at:

Level 1, 256 Clarendon Street South Melbourne VIC  3205.

The principal activities of the Foundation during the year were guiding our quest for new and
effective solutions and ensures that we meet our commitment to making this a safer, stimulating
and more supportive society for our children.

The Foundation employed 79 employees as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 48
employees).

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements, 
Accounting Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standard Board.  

The Foundation complies with Australian Accounting Standards – reduced disclosure 
requirements as issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board, the Corporations Act 2001 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012.  

The Directors have elected to apply the following accounting Standards: 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards; and  
AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Arising from 

Reduced Disclosure Requirements.  

The adoption of these standards has resulted in significantly reduced disclosures throughout the 
notes to the financial statements. There was no impact on the reporting financial position and 
performance of the Foundation. 

AASB 1053 and AASB 2010-2 

AASB 1053 establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of 
reporting requirements for general purpose financial statements: 

• Tier 1 – Australian Accounting Standards
• Tier 2 – Australian Accounting Standards – reduced disclosure requirements.

AASB 2010-2 makes amendments to each standard and interpretation, indicating the disclosures 
not required to be made by Tier 2 entities or inserting RDR paragraphs requiring simplified 
disclosures for Tier 2 entities. 

Historical cost convention 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except where noted 
otherwise. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange of assets.

(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

New and amended standards and interpretations 

The Foundation applied the following new standards effective from 1 January 2019. The nature 
and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of these new accounting standards are 
described below. 

• AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – AASB 15 supersedes AASB 118
Revenue and related interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue
arising from contracts with customers.

AASB 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers and requires that revenue be recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods
or services to a customer.

AASB 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all relevant
facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with their
customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract.

The Foundation adopted AASB 15 using the modified retrospective method of adoption.
There was no impact on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the statement of financial position or the statement of cash flow as a result of AASB 15.

• AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities – AASB 1058 supersedes AASB 1004
Contributions, with limited exceptions, and applies to all income transactions where a
contract with a customer does not exist in accordance with AASB 15.

• AASB 16 Leases – the Foundation has an ongoing pro bono lease arrangement with
National Australia Bank (NAB) for the use of its South Melbourne office space. In
adopting AASB 16, the Foundation elected to measure the present value of lease
payments in line with the temporary relief afforded to Not for Profit (NFP) entities in AASB
2018-8 which postpones the requirement for NFP entities to recognise pro bono lease
arrangements at fair value.

In accordance with this treatment, the Foundation did not recognise any non-monetary
contribution in the Statement of Comprehensive Income relating to its lease arrangement
with NAB in 2019. In 2018, the Foundation recognised non-monetary income and
expenditure of $511,886, equivalent to the market value of the lease.

The Foundation’s lease arrangement with NAB is not supported by an executed lease
agreement. However, the Foundation has received confirmation from NAB that the
current lease arrangement will be supported through until 29 June 2020.

The Foundation acknowledges its dependence on its arrangement with NAB for the use of its South Melbourne office and adjacent carpark to enable the Foundation to further its objectives.

In adopting AASB 16, the Foundation elected not to apply the requirements of AASB 16
to laptops and associated IT equipment that are currently under 36 month lease
agreements in line with the exemption that is afforded to low value underlying assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Revenue recognition 

Revenue received by the Foundation is recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities.   

Revenue recognised in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue from contracts exists when the Foundation receives an inflow of resources for the 
purpose of delivering specific goods or services at their fair value and is recognised upon the 
satisfaction of specific performance obligations. 

For the Foundation, revenue from contracts with customers includes income received as part of 
commercial agreements that involves the reciprocal transfer of products or services to schools, 
kindergartens and other community groups.  

It also includes funding that is awarded to the Foundation for a certain purpose or activity by 
corporate partners, trust and foundations or government, as agreed by the Foundation. In these 
instances, what the funding is used for is directed by the donor and enforced by sufficiently 
specific performance obligations. 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the Foundation satisfies specific 
performance obligations and delivers specific goods or services to a customer, either at a point in 
time or over a period of service provision, when control of these goods or services is transferred 
to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Foundation expects to 
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  

The Foundation has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements 
because it typically controls the goods or services before revenue transferring them to the 
customer. One exception to this exists where the Foundation has engaged a 3rd party fundraiser 
to run a campaign with products owned and controlled by the 3rd party.   

Revenue recognised in accordance with AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 

Revenue is recognised in accordance with AASB 1058 Income of Not-For-Profit entities where 
funding is awarded to the Foundation for the purposes of furthering its objectives. This includes 
donations and other fundraising where what the funding is used for is at the foundation’s 
discretion. 

This category of revenue can also include funding that is awarded to the Foundation for a certain 
purpose or activity; where the fulfilment of agreed activities is not necessarily enforced by 
sufficiently specific performance obligations.   

Non-monetary income and contribution 

The Foundation has recognised the importance of non-monetary contributions made in the form 
of donated goods and services throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.  These include 
such items as donated professional services and donated goods to support the Foundation’s 
program delivery.  

These donations have been recorded as income and expenditure in accordance with the nature 
of the donation and have no net impact on the overall surplus / (deficit). Non-monetary 
contributions do not include discounts that would be received in the normal course of commercial 
transactions. 
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Valuation of non-monetary income, wherever possible, is via third party substantiation by the 
provider of the goods or services.  Where this substantiation is unavailable, an estimate based on 
marketplace rates values is made by management.  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Although the Foundation receives volunteer support, this volunteer labour is not quantified in the
non-monetary contributions total.

(d) Expenditures

All expenditures are accounted for on an accruals basis and have been classified under headings 
that aggregate all costs related to the categories. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to a 
particular category, they have been allocated to activities on a basis that is consistent with use of 
the resources. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in 
hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of six months or less. 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash at bank and in hand and 
short-term deposits with an original maturity of 6 months or less that are readily convertible to 
cash, net of outstanding bank overdrafts, if any. 

(f) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables, which generally have 14 to 30 days terms, are initially recognised at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less an allowance for impairment. 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. The entity manages the 
process of customer credit risk regularly and all the outstanding trade receivables are monitored 
on an ongoing basis. The Expected Credit Loss Model (ECL) was performed as at 31 December 
2019 to analyse any impairment or bad debts on any outstanding receivables. The Foundation 
anticipate that all outstanding receivables will be recovered, hence, the provision of bad debts for 
the current year is $0.  

(g) Funds committed to beneficiaries

From time to time the Foundation receives funds from third parties which can only be used by 
specific beneficiaries. Such funds held by the Foundation, but which remain unspent at year end, 
are recorded as a liability. 

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Foundation conducts an annual 
internal review of asset values, which is used as a source of information to assess for any 
indicators of impairment.  

External factors, such as changes in expected future processes, technology and economic 
conditions, are also monitored to assess for indicators of impairment. If any indication of 
impairment exists, an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount is calculated. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the
impairments whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the impairments may
have been reversed.

(i) Fixed assets

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are recognised on a historical cost basis less accumulated depreciation and 
any impairment in value. 

Depreciation of non-current assets 

All non-current assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over their useful 
life to the Foundation in a manner that represents consumption of the service potential embodied 
in those assets.  

Depreciation charges are made from the time when a depreciable asset is put into use or held 
ready for sale.  

Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis over the estimated useful life of the 
specific assets as follows:  

• Office furniture and equipment 3 - 5 years 
• Digital Licence Product Build 3 years  
• Intangible assets 3 years. 

(j) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and, due to their short-term nature they, 
are not discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Foundation 
prior to the end of the year that are unpaid and arise when the Foundation becomes obliged to 
make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 

(k) Contract liabilities

Contract liability is recognised as a liability when the Foundation receives an inflow of resources 
relating to a performance obligation, reflected in a contract with a customer, that the Foundation 
has not yet fulfilled. The amount is subsequently recognised as revenue once the performance 
obligation has been satisfied.  

(l) Income tax and other taxes 

The Foundation is exempt from income tax and as such income tax has not been provided for in 
these accounts. 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

i) where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the
asset or as part of the expense item as applicable.

ii) receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part
of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

(m) Employee benefits

Wages, salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees' 
services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled.  

Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and 
measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by active employees at 31 December 2019 up until 30 June 2019. Subsequent to this 
date, the Victorian Government’s Portable Long Service Benefits Scheme assumes the liability 
for active employees of the Foundation.  

As part of the Portable Long Service Benefits Scheme, the Foundation is required to lodge a 
quarterly return to the Portable Long Service Authority. Upon lodgement, the Portable Long 
Service Authority invoices the Foundation an employer levy, equivalent to 1.65% of total wages 
paid out by the Foundation during the quarter.  

In calculating the Foundation’s liability at 31 December 2019, consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. 
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date. 

(n) Investments 

The Alannah & Madeline Foundation Limited, a company limited by guarantee incorporated in 
Australia, acts as the Trustee for The Alannah & Madeline Foundation. The Alannah & Madeline 
Foundation Limited prepares general-purpose financial statements in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. 

(o) Total Trust Funds

Movements in Trust Funds 

Details of the movement in each reserve and fund are provided in the Statement of Changes in 
Funds.   

Details of reserves and funds included in the Statement of Changes in Funds 

The total funds represent surplus/(deficit) over the expenses at the end of the accounting period. 

(p) Rounding of amounts

Amounts in the financial reports have been rounded off to the nearest dollar. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(q) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Foundation assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting date by evaluating 
conditions specific to the foundation and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. 
Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined and an 
appropriate write-down made. 

Estimation of useful lives of assets 

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience as well as 
manufacturers’ warranties (for plant and equipment).  In addition, the condition of the assets is  

assessed and considered against the remaining useful life. Adjustments to useful lives are made 
when considered necessary. 

Determination of doubtful debts 

No provision for doubtful debts is raised in the current year as per Expected Credit Loss Model. 
This takes into account the debtor, its trading position, past history, and any external indicators or 
impairment.  

The Foundation recognises an allowance for Expected Credit Loss (ECLs) for all debt 
instruments. ECLs are calculated based on contractual revenue and cash from other sources 
including donations and programs revenue with ageing analysis. For Trade Receivables and 
Contract Assets, ECLs calculations were based on simplified approach, hence, where applicable, 
the entity recognises an impairment at each annual reporting date.  

At Reporting date there is $99,838 receivable outside the Foundation’s credit policy which have 
been assessed as past due but not impaired. 
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4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Accounts receivable

Net accounts receivables

Contract Asset

Net GST Receivables

745,331 

745,331 

287,792 
147,270 

745,213 

745,213 

83,530 
119,085 

1,180,393 947,828 

5. PREPAYMENTS

Prepayments

Work in progress

148,904 

13,440 

117,832 

174,007 

162,344 291,839 

  31 December 2019   31 December 2018 

3. EXPENSES

Among others, the following expenses are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income:

Depreciation of office furniture and equipment 22,535 22,840 

Amortisation of fit-out costs

Amortisation of Digital Licence build costs

20,016 

112,797 

2,388 

136,063 
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31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

6. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office equipment
At cost 390,713 351,377 
Accumulated depreciation (351,549) (329,013) 

39,164 22,364 

Furniture and fixtures 
At cost 652,583 586,458 
Accumulated depreciation (601,411) (581,395) 

51,172 5,063 

Digital Licence build costs 
At cost  1,063,518 1,063,518 
Accumulated depreciation (978,089) (865,292) 

85,429 198,226 
Total plant and equipment 
At cost    2,106,814    2,001,353 
Accumulated depreciation (1,931,049) (1,775,700) 

175,765 225,653 

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and 
end of the period 

Office equipment 

Opening balance 22,364 28,952 

Additions 39,335 14,966 
Depreciation expense for the year (22,535) (21,554) 

39,164 22,364 

Furniture and fixtures 
Opening balance 5,063 9,993 
Additions 66,125 1,102 
Depreciation expense for the year (20,016) (6,032) 

51,172 5,063 

Digital Licence build costs 
Opening balance  

Additions 

198,226 

- 

270,095 

64,194 

Depreciation and impairment expense for the year (112,797) (136,063) 

85,429 198,226 
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31 December 2019   31 December 2018 

7. ACCRUED PAYABLES

PAYG tax withheld

Superannuation

96,398 

153,296 

64,779 

118,789 
Other accruals 173,622 71,717 

423,316 255,285 

8. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Current employee benefits

Annual leave 181,088 90,922 

Long Service leave - current 59,540 15,003 

240,628 105,925 

Non-current employee benefits 

Long Service leave – non current 48,830 74,589 

289,458 180,514 

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Website & software development costs

At cost 71,757 128,406 

Addition 520,619 31,040 
Amortisation (129,059) (87,689) 

463,317 71,757 
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 31 December 2019   31 December 2018 

10. CASH FLOW STATEMENT RECONCILIATION

(a) Reconciliation of the net surplus to the net cash
flows from operations

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  12,825 672,300 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation expense  284,408 248,978 

Changes in assets and liabilities 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments   129,495 (88,234) 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (232,565) (738,780) 

Increase/(decrease) in accrued payables (21,673) 325,465 
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 161,561 237,505 

Increase/(decrease) in provision for employee benefits 108,944 (42,645) 

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 442,995 614,589 

(b) Cash balances comprises:

Cash in hand and balances with banks 

Term deposits 

1,785,890 

501,092 

2,169,018 

301,049 

Total cash and cash equivalent  2,286,982 2,470,067 

11. AUDITORS REMUNERATION

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst &
Young for

- audit of the financial report of the entity 50,000 27,000 
     50,000      27,000 
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12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Risk Management

The Foundation’s financial instruments comprise Cash and Other Receivables, amounts payable
to trade creditors and other parties.

The main risk arising from the Foundation’s financial instruments are liquidity risk and credit risk.
The Foundation does not use derivative instruments to manage risk associated with its financial
instruments.

The Audit, Finance and Business Risk Committee and the Directors of the Trustee Company
have responsibility for risk management, including risk associated with financial instruments. Risk
management policies are established to identify and analyse the risk associated with the
Foundation’s financial instruments to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor the
risks and adherence to limits. The Audit, Finance and Business Risk Committee is responsible for
monitoring the effectiveness of the Foundation’s risk management policies and processes and to
regularly review risk management policies and systems, taking into account charges in market
conditions and the Foundation’s activities. The Committee and the Directors of the Trustee
Company are also responsible for developing and monitoring investment policies.

Liquidity Risk - Liquidity risk is the risk that the Foundation will not be able to fund its obligations
as they fall due.

The Foundation manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and key liquidity ratios to
ensure adequate liquid funds are available to meet normal operating expenses for 12 months.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 
Carrying 
Amount 

$ 

Contractual Cash 
Flow (undiscounted) 

$ 

6 months 
or less 

$ 

Trade and other payables $562,846 $562,846 $562,846 

Accrued payables (Note 7) $473,316 $473,316 $473,316 

Total Financial Liabilities $1,036,162 $1,036,162 $1,036,162 

Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Foundation if a customer or counterparty 
to a financial instrument fails to meet its obligations. The Foundation is exposed to two sources of 
credit risk – amount receivables and counterparty risk in respect of funds deposited with banks 
and other financial institutions.  

Funds are deposited only with those banks and financial institutions approved by the Directors of 
the Trustee Company. Such approval is only given in respect of banks that hold “AA” ratings from 
Standard & Poor’s or an equivalent rating from another reputable ratings agency. At the reporting 
date, the Foundation did not have any material credit risk exposures to any single receivable or 
group of receivables or any bank or financial institution.  

Exposure to credit risk - The carrying amount of the Foundation’s financial assets best represents 
its maximum credit risk exposure.  

The Foundation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 
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12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Carrying Amount 
31 DECEMBER  

2019 

Carrying Amount 
31 DECEMBER  

2018 

Cash (Note 10) $2,286,982 $2,470,067 

Accounts receivable (Note 4) $745,331 $745,213 

Contract asset (Note 4) $287,792 $83,530 

Net GST receivable (Note 4) $147,270 $119,085 

$3,467,375 $3,417,895 

Accounts receivable comprises amounts due from donors, schools, government and corporate 
partners. The aging of these debtors at reporting date was: 

31 DECEMBER 
2019 

GROSS 

31 DECEMBER 
2019 

IMPAIRMENT 

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

GROSS 

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

IMPAIRMENT 

Not past due 

< 30 days 

$645,493 - $599,495 - 

Past due 

> 30 days

$99,838 - $145,718 - 

$745,331 - $745,213 - 

Market price risk - Market price risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Foundation’s income or the value 
of its holding of financial instruments. As the Foundation’s all financial instruments are in local 
currency i.e. Australian Dollars, there is no risk of market price for the Foundation.  

Currency risk - as the Foundation deals in local currency i.e. Australian Dollars, there is no risk of 
currency risk for the Foundation.  

Fair values 

Carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements represent 
their net fair values, as determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 
2(k) to the financial statements.  

13. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Director’s compensation

The Directors of the Trustee Company act in an honorary capacity and received no compensation
for their services.
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13. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The value-in-kind compensation for services provided by the Directors of the Trustee Company is
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income under non-monetary income and
expenditure in the Financial Year 2019.

All transactions with Directors of the Trustee Company related entities have been performed at
arm’s length.

In 2018 the Foundation entered a three-year partnership with Aurora Energy Pty Ltd for which,
Director of the Trustee Company, Rebecca Kardos is the CEO. As part of the partnership, the
Foundation has received funding for eSmart Digital Licence and teacher training workshops in
Tasmania. In 2019, the partnership delivered $34,975 of revenue to the Foundation.

Key Management Personnel compensation

The Key Management Personnel includes following positions. The positions are:

• Chief Executive Officer
• Chief Operating Officer
• General Manager – Marketing & Communications
• General Manager – Programs.

The compensation paid to these Key Management Personnel are in 2019 and 2018 are: 

31 DECEMBER 2019 31 DECEMBER 2018 

Short-term employee benefits $901,272 $788,925 

14. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY

The Foundation is dependent upon the ongoing receipt of donations, grants and funding from
supporters to ensure the continuance of its operation.

15. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

There were no matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the financial year
which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operation of the Foundation, the
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Foundation.

16. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Foundation has no material contingent liabilities at reporting date.

17. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

There were no commitments for expenditure as at the end of the financial year.
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Independent auditor's report to the Trustee of The Alannah and
Madeline Foundation

Opinion

We have audited the financial report, being a general purpose financial report, of The Alannah &
Madeline Foundation (Foundation), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial report, including a summary of
significant accounting policies, and the Trustee' declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Foundation is in accordance with the
Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 , including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Foundation 's financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of
its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

(b) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the
Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Regulation 2013 .

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Foundation in accordance with the ethical
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Trustee is responsible for the other information. The other information is the Trustee’s report
accompanying the financial report.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the Trustee for the Financial Report

The Trustee of the Foundation is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements,
the Guidelines and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012  and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial report, the Trustee is responsible for assessing the Foundation’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustee either intend to liquidate the Foundation or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Trustee.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustee’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Foundation’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Foundation
to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Ernst & Young

Rodney Piltz
Partner

Melbourne
20 March 2020
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Trustee of the Alannah and
Madeline Foundation

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of the Alannah and Madeline Foundation for the
financial year ended 31 December 2019, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have
been:

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Subdivision 60-C of the
Australian Charities and Not-for profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Ernst & Young

Rodney Piltz
Partner
20 March 2020
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Trustee of the Alannah and
Madeline Foundation

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of the Alannah and Madeline Foundation for the
financial year ended 31 December 2019, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have
been:

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Subdivision 60-C of the
Australian Charities and Not-for profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Ernst & Young

Rodney Piltz
Partner
20 March 2020
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